IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

ALTERRA HEALTH CARE CORPORATION, a/k/a ALTERNATIVE LIVING SERVICES, INC., d/b/a STERLING HOUSE OF TALLAHASSEE, and STERLING HOUSE CORPORATION, d/b/a STERLING HOUSE OF TALLAHASSEE.

Petitioners,

CASE NO. SC01-709

V.

Estate of FRANCES SHELLEY, by and through MARK S. MITCHELL, Executor de son Tort,

Respondent.	

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT Case No. 1D00-3260

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

Marie A. Borland
Florida Bar No. 847984
Donna J. Fudge
Florida Bar No. 109861
HILL, WARD & HENDERSON, P.A.
Bank of America Plaza, Suite 3700
101 East Kennedy Boulevard
Post Office Box 2231
Tampa, Florida 33601

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

This is an action alleging negligence, breach of statutory rights and wrongful death against an assisted living facility. The action was filed by the Executor of the Estate of Frances Shelley against Petitioners, Alterra Health Care Corporation, a/ka/ Alternative Living Services, Inc., d/b/a Sterling House of Tallahassee, and Sterling House Corporation, d/b/a Sterling House of Tallahassee (collectively "Sterling House"). (App. A)

Ms. Shelley was a resident of Sterling House from April 1998 until August 10, 1999. (App. A at ¶ 4) Respondent alleges that sometime during the evening or early morning hours of August 9 or 10, 1999, Ms. Shelley caught her leg in the footboard of her bed, and was not found by Sterling House staff until six to eight hours later. (App. A at ¶ 9) According to Respondent, Sterling House did not maintain sufficient staff, particularly during evening shifts, to properly supervise and assist its residents. (App. A at ¶ 8)

The matter before this Court arises out of a discovery ruling which became the subject of a petition for writ of certiorari to the First District Court of Appeal.

During the course of discovery, Respondent requested that Sterling House produce the personnel files of each employee of Sterling House who provided any care or service to Ms. Shelley during her residency at the facility. (App. B at ¶ 21)

Specifically, in paragraph 21(a-g) of the discovery request, Respondent asked

Sterling House to produce the following:

Copies of any and all documentation maintained by Defendants for each employee of Sterling House of Tallahassee who provided any care or service to Frances Shelley at the facility, <u>including but not limited to</u> the following information:

- (a) Any and all applications for employment;
- (b) Copies of any and all documentation obtained by the facility about said employees from any third source, such as employment verification information from other employers, reports from any law enforcement or state administrative agency, or any abuse reporting agency where such document is not privileged by state or federal law creating the abuse reporting agency;
- (c) Copies of any and all licensing certification for said employees;
- (d) Any and all documents which would contain disciplinary information on said employees by the nursing home, including letters of reprimand, or complaints by outside persons;
- (e) Any and all documents submitted by said employees or recorded by the facility concerning complaints registered by the employees;
- (f) Any and all performance evaluations completed for said employees; and
- (g) Any and all forms, letters or notes relating to termination of said employees' service at the nursing home, including writings completed by the employees or any other member of the nursing home's staff or administration.

(App. B at ¶ 21) Sterling House objected to the request, in part, on the basis that it violated the employees' constitutional rights to privacy. (App. C)

Respondent moved to compel the production of the personnel files, arguing that

the information was "relevant" because it would help him determine (i) whether the employees were qualified; (ii) the extent of Sterling House's knowledge of its employees' qualifications based on any disciplinary information in their files; and (iii) if the employee was certified or licensed. (App. D) He also argued that because Sterling House *might* seek to impeach its former employees with information from their personnel files, he was entitled to review the personnel files of the employees in order to "weigh their credibility." (Id.) Finally, Respondent argued that the personnel files *might* contain information revealing possible employee concerns regarding the operation of the facility, and were therefore relevant to the issue of the facility's notice of such concerns. (Id.)

The trial court heard argument on Respondent's motion to compel on July 12, 2000. (App. E) Counsel for Sterling House objected to the motion on the basis that the documentation Respondent was seeking contained information protected from disclosure under the privacy provision of Florida's Constitution. (App. E at pp. 32-34) Sterling House explained that Respondent had the burden of demonstrating a need for the confidential documentation which outweighed the employees' privacy rights. (App. E at pp. 32-34)

The trial court disagreed that Respondent was seeking "confidential and sensitive information" and granted the motion to compel. (App. E at pp. 34-35; App. F at ¶ 8) Sterling House then filed a petition for writ of certiorari to the First District

Court of Appeal, seeking an order quashing that portion of the trial court's order compelling the production of the personnel files. The First District issued an order to show cause on August 31, 2000, thus indicating that Sterling House had made a prima facie showing of irreparable harm and a departure from the essential requirements of law. See Bared & Co., Inc. v. McGuire, 670 So. 2d 153, 157 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). The briefing to the First District was completed on October 12, 2000.

On March 8, 2001, the First District denied the petition for writ of certiorari on the narrow basis that it was bound by its decision in North Florida Regional Hospital, Inc. v. Douglas, 454 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) to hold that Sterling House did not have standing to raise the privacy rights of its employees. (App. G) However, the First District acknowledged and certified conflict between its decision in Douglas and the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Beverly Enterprises-Florida, Inc. v. Deutsch, 765 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000) (App. H). The Fifth District in Deutsch recently held that an employer *does* have standing to assert the privacy rights of its employees, and likewise acknowledged and certified conflict with Douglas.

In his concurring opinion in the present case, First District Judge Wolf noted that if the Court were able to "work with a clean slate," he would follow the Fifth District's decision in <u>Deutsch</u>. Judge Wolf reasoned:

Innocent employees who are not parties to an action against their employer should not be required to hire a lawyer to protect their interests. It would be better to allow the employer, who is a party to the action and who collected the information, to assert its employees' privacy rights guaranteed by the Florida Constitution.

(App. G at p. 3) Judge Wolf also noted that the "criteria for granting third-party

standing to assert a constitutional right are not a barrier in this case." (App. G at p. 3, n. 1, citing Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered v. United States, 491 U.S. 617, 623 n.3, 109 S. Ct. 2646, 2651 n.3, 105 L. Ed. 2d 528 (1989) and Craig v. Boren, 429 U.S. 190, 193, 97 S. Ct. 451, 455, 50 L. Ed. 2d 397 (1976)). Judge Wolf concluded that intervention by the employees "would be costly and inefficient," and that Sterling House and its employees had a "substantial relationship and consistent interests which favor[ed] the granting of third-party standing." (Id.)

Notably, because of its decision on the issue of standing, the First District never reached the substantive issue presented by the petition: Whether the trial court erred when it ordered Sterling House to produce the non-party employee personnel files, violating the employees' constitutionally protected privacy rights and therefore causing irreparable harm.² However, if this Court accepts jurisdiction to resolve the certified conflict, it may also address the merits of the discovery ruling.

See, e.g., Savoie v. State, 422 So. 2d 308, 310 (Fla. 1982) (Once Supreme Court accepts jurisdiction over case to resolve legal issue in conflict, it may in its discretion consider other issues properly raised and argued). Accordingly, Sterling House respectfully requests that this Court accept jurisdiction to resolve the certified conflict, and further consider the substantive issue presented in the petition for writ of certiorari to the First District Court of Appeal.

.

¹ Judge Wolf referred to the doctrine of third-party or *jus tertii* standing employed by the federal courts. Under this doctrine, when a litigant seeks to advance the constitutional rights of others, the federal courts determine (1) whether the litigant has suffered some injury-in-fact adequate to satisfy Article III; and (2) whether prudential considerations favor the litigant's advancement of the claim. See Caplin & Drysdale, supra. In resolving the second or "prudential" inquiry, the courts look to (1) the relationship of the litigant to the person whose rights are being asserted; (2) the ability of the person to advance his own rights; and (3) the impact of the litigation on third-party interests. <u>Id.</u>

² Respondent has argued that the First District's denial of the petition for writ of certiorari somehow amounts to a ruling on the merits and is now the "law of the case." Respondent is wrong. <u>See, e.g., Casey-Goldsmith v. Goldsmith</u>, 735 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999) ("We answer by aligning ourselves with the rulings in the other district courts which hold that a denial of a petition for writ of certiorari is not a ruling on the merits and does not establish law of the case").

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should accept jurisdiction to resolve the conflict certified by the First District Court of Appeal, and clarify that under Florida law, employers have standing to assert the privacy rights of their employees. In doing so, this Court should disapprove of the First District's decision in <u>Douglas</u>, and hold that the Fifth District's more recent decision in <u>Deutsch</u> sets forth the correct rule of law on the issue of employer standing. A resolution of this conflict by this Court is essential to the maintenance of uniformity and harmony in the law. Indeed, every district court of this state, and this Court, have recognized that employers have standing to assert the privacy rights of their employees.

Permitting employers to assert the privacy rights of their employees is in accordance with the clearly established policy of this state to safeguard the privacy rights of Florida citizens. Even First District Judge Wolf recognized in the present case that an employer which has a substantial relationship and consistent interests with its employees should have standing to assert the employees' privacy rights. So that the First District can "work with a clean slate," this Court should clarify that <u>Douglas</u> is no longer good law, and that employers in this state have standing to assert the privacy rights of their employees.

Sterling House further requests that this Court, in accepting jurisdiction to resolve the certified conflict, also resolve the substantive issue presented to the First District below -- whether the trial court departed from the essential requirements of law by ordering Sterling House to produce the confidential employee personnel files, violating the employees' rights to privacy and therefore causing irreparable harm. The courts of this state have held that information in employee personnel files should be shielded from disclosure under the privacy provision of our state's Constitution. Because of this state's strong public policy interest in protecting the privacy of its citizens, the trial courts must assure that a party seeking discovery has established a need for such confidential information which outweighs the individual's countervailing interest in maintaining the confidentiality of the information, and that the same information cannot be obtained through less intrusive means.

The trial court in this case departed from the law when it concluded that Respondent was not seeking confidential employee information, and when it ordered Sterling House to produce the personnel files. The

documentation Sterling House was ordered to produce indeed contained the very sensitive and confidential information protected from disclosure under our state's Constitution. In ordering the production of this sensitive information, the trial court did not even require Respondent to meet his burden of establishing a need for the documentation which outweighed the employees' right to the privacy of their files, or that the same information could not be obtained through less intrusive means. In fact, Respondent never demonstrated that the employee information is even relevant to any legitimate issues in the case.

The trial court's order will not only create harmful precedent in this state if it is upheld, but it could expose Sterling House to liability to its employees for releasing confidential information in their personnel files. This Court should take a strong stance given the constitutional issues presented in this case, and therefore quash the trial court's order compelling the production of the employee personnel files.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD RESOLVE THE CONFLICT CERTIFIED IN THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL AND HOLD THAT EMPLOYERS HAVE STANDING UNDER FLORIDA LAW TO ASSERT THE PRIVACY RIGHTS OF THEIR EMPLOYEES.

A. <u>Introduction</u>.

This Court should accept jurisdiction to resolve the conflict arising from the First District's decision in <u>Douglas</u> and the Fifth District's decision in <u>Deutsch</u> on the issue of an employer's standing to assert the privacy rights of its employees. <u>See Lake v. Lake</u>, 103 So. 2d 639, 642 (Fla. 1958) ("To remain stable, the law administered by the Supreme Court and the district courts of appeal must be harmonious and uniform..."); <u>Donoghue v. Beeler</u>, 149 So. 2d 534, 536 (Fla. 1963) (Dissenting opinion discussing the Supreme Court's role of "maintaining uniformity and dispelling confusion in the law"). In furtherance of the goal of reconciling conflicts and ensuring uniformity and harmony of decisions, this Court should overrule <u>Douglas</u> and hold that under Florida law -- as expressly recognized by the Fifth District in <u>Deutsch</u> -- employers have standing to assert the privacy rights of their employees.

B. The Fifth District's decision in Deutsch states the correct rule of law on the issue of an employer's standing to assert the privacy its employees.

rights of

In <u>Deutsch</u>, the Fifth District recently addressed whether a defendant nursing home operator had standing to protect the privacy rights of one of its employees. The plaintiff in <u>Deutsch</u> had sought the production of the personnel file of one of the defendant's vice presidents. The defendant objected to the discovery request on the basis that compelling the production of the employee's personnel file violated his right to privacy. The trial court nevertheless ordered the production of specific items in the personnel file.

The defendant then petitioned the Fifth District for a writ of certiorari quashing the discovery order. In response to the petition, the plaintiff relied on the First District's decision in <u>Douglas</u> to support her argument that the nursing home operator did not have standing to assert the third-party privacy rights of its employee. <u>Id.</u> at 780. The Fifth District disagreed with the holding in <u>Douglas</u> that an employer lacks standing to assert the privacy rights of its employees, and accordingly acknowledged and certified conflict with the decision. The Court reasoned that "Florida's Constitution provides strong protection in regard to privacy." <u>Id.</u> at 784. On this point, the Fifth District turned for guidance to decisions from other states which "have been more protective of third-party personnel records." <u>Id.</u> at 782-783. Specifically, in the out-of-state decisions cited in the Fifth District's opinion, the courts similarly held that defendant employers have standing to assert the privacy rights of their employees. <u>Id.</u>

Unlike the Fifth District's opinion in <u>Deutsch</u>, the First District's opinion in <u>Douglas</u> offers no analysis to support its conclusion that an employer lacks standing to assert the privacy rights of its non-party employees. In <u>Douglas</u>, the defendant hospital petitioned the First District for a writ of certiorari, seeking to quash an order requiring the hospital to produce the personnel records of four of its nurses. The First District denied the petition, simply concluding that "a mere employee/employer relationship is not the kind of special relationship necessary for third party standing." <u>Id.</u> at 760-761. The Court relied entirely on <u>Craig v. Boren</u>, <u>supra</u> to support this conclusion. <u>Id.</u> 760-761. Notably, the Court also acknowledged that the nurses had moved to intervene, and if permitted to do so, could assert their own rights. Id. at 761.

C. Douglas is no longer good law.

The basis underlying the First District's decision in <u>Douglas</u>, compared with the First District's more recent decision in the present case and the Fifth District's decision in <u>Deutsch</u>, reveals why <u>Douglas</u> should be overruled. As noted above, the First District in <u>Douglas</u> relied solely on <u>Craig v. Boren</u> to support its conclusion that the employer/employee relationship is not sufficiently "special" to permit the employer to assert the privacy rights of its employees. However, the Court in <u>Craig never addressed</u> whether an employee/employer relationship is sufficiently "special" to confer third-party standing. The First District in <u>Douglas</u> apparently relied on dicta in <u>Craig generally discussing the doctrine of third-party or *jus tertii* standing. Notably, the Court in <u>Craig ultimately concluded that a vendor of 3.2% beer *had standing* to challenge an Oklahoma statute prohibiting the sale of such beer to males under the age of 21 on equal protection grounds.</u></u>

Seventeen years later, the First District has apparently receded from its conclusion that an employer lacks standing, based on the principles discussed in <u>Craig</u>, to assert the privacy interests of its employees. As noted above, First District Judge Wolf in his special concurring opinion below recognized that the "criteria" for granting third-party standing to assert a constitutional right set forth in <u>Craig</u> and in <u>Caplin & Drysdale</u> are *not* a barrier to the employer's standing in this case. (App. G at p. 3, n.1) (emphasis added) Judge Wolf recognized, in fact, that the concerns underlying the standing analysis *favor* allowing an employer to assert the privacy rights of its employees. (<u>Id.</u>) Specifically, he observed that Sterling House and its employees "have a substantial relationship and consistent interests which favor the granting of third-party standing," and that an employer "who is a party to the action and who collected the information" is in a better position to assert the employees' privacy rights. (<u>Id.</u>)

In short, not even the First District believes any longer that an employer lacks standing under the principles set forth by the U.S. Supreme Court to assert the privacy rights of its employees. The First District in the present case instead denied Sterling House's petition for writ of certiorari on the basis of its belief that it was bound to do so under <u>Douglas</u>. However, by certifying conflict between <u>Douglas</u> and <u>Deutsch</u>, the First District seeks relief from its outdated decision. As Judge Wolf stated in his special concurrence, if the First District "were able to work with a clean slate," he would follow the Fifth District's decision in Deutsch.

D. The First District's decision in Douglas is in conflict with decisions of every court of this state.

Although the courts of this state have not expressly addressed the issue of employer standing as the Fifth District recently did in <u>Deutsch</u>, every Florida district court has permitted an employer to assert the privacy rights of its non-party employees. The courts therefore have implicitly resolved the standing issue. In <u>Seta Corporation of Boca, Inc. v. Office of Atty. Gen., Dept. of Legal Affairs, State of Fla.</u>, 756 So. 2d 1093 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), the employer challenged a discovery order requiring it to produce its employee personnel files, trade secrets, and financial information. The Fourth District granted the writ and quashed the order requiring the employer to produce the employee personnel files. In doing so, the Fourth District implicitly recognized that the employer had standing to assert the privacy interests of its employees. <u>See also American Express Travel Related Services, Inc. v. Cruz</u>, 761 So. 2d 1206 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) (Granting employer's petition for writ of certiorari and directing trial court to allow employer meaningful appellate review before forcing it to release employee personnel files).

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