IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

ALTERRA HEALTHCARE CORPORATION, a/k/a ALTERNATIVE LIVING SERVICES, INC., d/b/a STERLING HOUSE OF TALLAHASSEE; and STERLING HOUSE CORPORATION, d/b/a STERLING HOUSE OF TALLAHASSEE,

Petitioners,

CASE NO. SC01-709 1st DCA Case No. 1D00-3260

Estate of FRANCES SHELLEY, by and through MARK S. MITCHELL, Personal Representative,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
FIRST DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WILKES & McHUGH, P.A.

Camille Godwin Florida Bar No. 0974323 119 East Park Avenue Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (850) 681-9550 (850) 681-9379 Facsimile Counsel for Respondent

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners seek to have this Court exercise its purely discretionary authority to review a certified conflict in a case wherein the underlying dispute between the parties has been resolved by settlement. Although the First District in this case certified its decision in this case being in conflict with the decision of the Fifth District in *Deutsch*, Respondent respectfully submits that no conflict actually exists between the decisions, and thus, the conflict jurisdiction of this Court has not been established. There being no discretionary jurisdiction based on conflict, and no other basis being asserted for jurisdiction, this Court should refrain from exercising discretionary jurisdiction in this matter.

If the Court elects to address the issue certified to be in conflict, Respondent urges the Court to recognize the factual distinctions in the instant matter from those set forth in *Douglas* and *Deutsch*. Respondent further urges the Court to refrain from making a decision which would give all employers an unbridled right to shield relevant evidence from discovery by merely asserting the privacy rights of all employees. Such a decision would be overly broad, unnecessary, and fraught with challenges to meaningful implementation.

Should the Court retain jurisdiction, Petitioners have also asked the Court to review not only the issue of whether an employer has standing to assert the privacy rights of employees, but also the issue of whether the trial court departed from the

essential requirements of law in ordering production of the discovery requested by Respondent. Even if this Court elects to address the standing issue, the Court should decline to review the underlying discovery order in light of the resolution of the lawsuit between the parties and the lack of any remaining unresolved issue in this litigation.

Finally, Respondent argues that the trial court's order was wholly consistent with the essential requirements of existing law, that the First District's opinion and the trial court's order compelling production of the requested information is not to be disturbed in the absence of actual conflict resolvable by this Court, and that this Court should not interfere with the inherent authority of the trial courts to fashion discovery orders which promote the interests of the parties to the litigation and also protect the privacy interests of non-parties.

Furthermore, this Court should not permit litigants to abuse the right to petition this Court for discretionary review. The following observation made by this Court many years ago is especially applicable now:

"It is appropriate to remind that certiorari is not to be employed indiscriminately as an added escape route to reach the objective of a second appeal. Once this court undertakes to relax the well-defined barriers which circumscribe and define its jurisdiction then the Courts of Appeal will become mere stepping stones along the appellate way. They will become merely intermediate resting places along an arduous and expensive pathway in the appellate process."

Karlin v. City of Miami Beach, 113 So. 2d 551, 553 (Fla. 1959).

ARGUMENT

- I. THE LAWSUIT UNDERLYING THE INSTANT MATTER WAS RESOLVED BY SETTLEMENT, NO FURTHER LEGAL ISSUES REMAIN FOR DETERMINATION BY THIS COURT, AND THE COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO EXERCISE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THIS CAUSE.
 - A. Review and Resolution by This Court of a Conflict Certified by a District Court Is Purely Discretionary

This Court's authority to exercise conflict jurisdiction is found in the Florida Constitution, which provides that the Supreme Court may review any decision of a district court of appeal that "expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law." Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. (1980). Further, discretionary review of certified conflicts is authorized, but not mandated, by Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A) which provides as follows:

Discretionary Jurisdiction: The discretionary jurisdiction of the supreme court may be sought to review

- (A) decisions of district courts of appeal that
 - (i) expressly declare valid a state statute;
 - (ii) expressly construe a provision of the state or federal constitution:
 - (iii) expressly affect a class of constitutional or state officers;
 - (iv) expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law;
 - (v) pass upon a question certified to be of great public importance;
 - (vi) are certified to be in direct conflict with decisions of other district courts of appeal.

Clearly, although review of decisions certified to be in direct conflict with decisions of other district courts of appeal is authorized, such review is certainly *not mandatory*. Of course, in the absence of a direct conflict, review by this Court is not authorized. *Wilson v. Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Co.*, 327 So. 2d 220 (Fla. 1976).

B. As a Result of the Settlement of the Underlying Lawsuit Between the Parties, No Issues Remain which Require Resolution by This Court.

Notwithstanding the resolution of the underlying lawsuit between the parties, Petitioners seek to have this Court retain jurisdiction to resolve an alleged conflict in decisional authority and to address an issue asserted solely by the Petitioners to be of "great public importance." Of course, this Court has left no doubt that it is not for a party to designate an issue as one of great public importance. This Court reviews only questions so certified by a district court of appeal. *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Langston*, 655 So. 2d 91, 93, n.1 (Fla. 1995).

Although once the Court assumes jurisdiction of a cause, it also has jurisdiction over all ancillary issues, the Court is not required to exercise its review powers over all such issues. As the Petitioners point out, this Court should exercise such jurisdiction only when the issues raised have been "properly briefed and argued *and are dispositive of the case*." *Savoie v. State*, 422 So. 2d 308, 312 (Fla. 1982) *(emphasis added)*.

In the instant matter, the dispute between the parties has been resolved by settlement, thus there are no issues remaining for this Court to resolve between the parties to this litigation. Regardless of the Court's rulings on the merits of the issues presented, no such rulings will affect the instant action. Petitioners have alleged in their Response to Motion to Dismiss matters that were neither properly raised, briefed, and argued below nor raised in their Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction by baldly asserting that the substantive issues presented by the Petition are "of great public importance," are "likely to recur," and are thus issues ripe for resolution by this Court. Such gratuitous comment cannot, under any reading of Fla. R. App. P. 9.030, be considered appropriate subject matter on a Petition for Discretionary Review.

- II. NOTWITHSTANDING EXPRESS ASSERTION OF CONFLICT BY THE FIRST DISTRICT, NO ACTUAL CONFLICT EXISTS AND THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO EXERCISE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THIS CAUSE.
 - A. The Purpose of Discretionary Review of Decisions in Conflict is To Ensure Uniformity and Certainty in the Law.

The purpose of discretionary review of district court decisions in conflict is to avoid confusion and uncertainty in the law and to further the uniformity of case law within the state. *Wainwright v. Taylor*, 476 So. 2d 669 (Fla. 1985); *Ansin v. Thurston*, 101 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1958). In determining the appropriateness of discretionary jurisdiction based on alleged decisional conflict, this Court is limited

to a review of the facts contained within the four corners of the majority decision expressing the conflict. *Reaves v. State*, 485 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1986). Statements in dissenting or concurring opinions simply cannot form the basis for conflict jurisdiction. *Jenkins v. State*, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980).

If no direct and express conflict is apparent in the main body of the decision, the Court must deny the petition for review. *Reaves* at 830. Similarly, the Court should decline to exercise its review authority where although decisions are claimed to be in conflict, they are actually distinguishable on the facts presented or the applicable law. *Wilson at 221.*; *Protheroe v. Protheroe*, 328 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1976).

B. No Actual Conflict Exists between the Decisions of the First District Court of Appeal in *Douglas* and *Shelley* and the Decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in *Deutsch*.

Although the First District certified a conflict between the *Douglas* and *Deutsch* decisions on the issue of whether employers enjoy standing to assert the privacy rights of their employees, a close examination of both opinions reveals that no actual conflict exists in the decisions. Where no conflict actually exists, this Court should discharge jurisdiction. *Department of Revenue v. Johnston*, 442 So. 2d 950 (Fla. 1983).

The opinion of the First District in the instant case is very brief and to the point. In denying the petition for writ of certiorari, the Court stated in a simple per curiam opinion:

"We are bound by *North Florida Reg'l Hospital, Inc., v. Douglas*, 454 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), in which we held that an employer does not have standing to raise the privacy rights of its employees. Since, under Douglas, Alterra did not have standing to assert the privacy rights of its non-party employees, the trial court could not have departed from the essential requirements of law." (*P. App. 1*).

The First District then asserted conflict in this decision with the Fifth District in the *Deutsch* case. *Shelley* at D670. In *Deutsch*, the Fifth District quashed an order requiring production of portions of the personnel file for a vice-president of Beverly Health and Rehabilitation Services, Inc., a company which operated the nursing home at issue in that case. Deutsch at 779. The *Deutsch* court had upheld an employer's right to assert the privacy rights of a *non-caregiver* employee in his personnel file and then certified conflict with the First District Court's opinion in *North Florida Regional Hosp., Inc. v. Douglas*, 454 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Notwithstanding these pronouncements of conflict in decisional authority by the First and Fifth Districts, Respondent respectfully submits that no such conflict actually exists.

-

⁵ This is the same Beverly Enterprises-Florida, Inc., which has filed an *amicus* curiae brief in this matter on behalf of Petitiones, Sterling House Corporation and Alterra Healthcare Corporation.

The facts in these cases are quite distinguishable. The *Deutsch* respondent requested production of the entire personnel file of the petitioner's former group vice-president, Allen Davis. The *Deutsch* petitioner argued that Mr. Davis' personnel file contained personal information of a potentially sensitive nature:

"for which Mr. Davis, a non-caregiver, has a right to expect will be treated as confidential and private. As a group vice-president, Mr. Davis never provided care to Respondent."

Deutsch at 780.

In *Deutsch*, Beverly argued that, unlike the personnel files of respondent's caregivers, Mr. Davis' personnel file had nothing whatsoever to do with the case. The *Deutsch* Court found that Beverly had standing to assert the privacy rights of its corporate level employee and that the petitioner's nursing home's group vice president, who **did not** provide care to the respondent/plaintiff, had a reasonable expectation of privacy as to his personnel file. *Deutsch at* 784. Significantly, in *Deutsch*, the nursing home had, in fact, produced personnel files for thirteen employees who had been care givers. *Id*.

Not only does the *Deutsch* opinion fail to support Petitioners' position, it actually emphasizes the soundness of the instant Order, since it validates the discoverable nature of caregivers' personnel files. *In Deutsch, even Beverly Enterprises acknowledged that the plaintiff was entitled to petitioner's employee records for those employees that who were caregivers of the plaintiff, as*

evidenced by the fact that the nursing home apparently did not object to production of caregiver records and "provided the personnel files of 13 employees and the personnel files of two caregivers". Deutsch at 779. The relevance of these documents is considerable, and cannot be outweighed by a hypothetical de minimis privacy right that Petitioners have failed to show exists.

Finally, in *Douglas*, the First District *did not hold* that an employer *cannot* assert the privacy rights of employees. The Court simply and conservatively held as follows:

"The hospital *has not proven it has standing* to assert the privacy rights of the nurses. A *mere* employee/employer relationship is not the kind of special relationship necessary for third party standing."

Douglas at 760 (emphasis added).

Because there is no conflict in the decisions, there is no basis upon which this Court has jurisdiction. *Miami Daily News, Inc., v. Alice P.,* 467 So. 2d 697 (Fla. 1985).

III. THE COURT SHOULD REFRAIN FROM A RESOLUTION OF THE CERTIFIED CONFLICT ABROGATING THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER WHICH WAS WHOLLY CONSISTENT WITH THE ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS OF LAW AND WHOLLY CONSISTENT WITH THE HOLDINGS OF BOTH DOUGLAS AND DEUTSCH.

Respondent acknowledges that in the event this Court decides it has conflict jurisdiction based on the certified conflict between *Deutsch* and *Douglas*, the Court is also vested with jurisdiction to review all other issues necessary to a full and final resolution of the cause. *Hall v. State*, 752 So.2d 575 (Fla. 2000). Petitioners urge this Court to resolve the alleged conflict by holding that employers have standing to assert the privacy rights of non party employees. This request is seemingly without limitation and would seem to ask the Court to acknowledge such standing on behalf of all employers, with regard to all employees, in all situations.

A. Trial Courts Have Wide Discretion in Making Orders Relating to the Scope of Discovery.

The discovery order at issue was entirely consistent with the essential requirements of applicable statutory and decisional Florida law. Orders relating to the scope of discovery are within the wide discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned absent an abuse of that discretion. *Douglas* at 760 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.280 provides for a broad scope of pretrial discovery:

Parties may obtain discovery regarding any matter, not privileged, that is relevant to the subject matter of the pending action...It is not ground for objection that the information sought will be inadmissible at the trial

if the information sought appears reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

This breadth is appropriate, since the purpose of discovery is

- (i) to identify at early stages of a proceeding the real issues to be resolved;
- (ii) to provide each party with all available sources of proof as early as possible to facilitate trial preparation; and
- (iii) to abolish the tactical element of surprise in our adversary trial process. *Dodson v. Persell*, 390 So. 2d 704, 706 (Fla. 1980).

Respondent asserted that Mrs. Shelley suffered because Sterling House failed to provide adequate care to her while she was a resident. Therefore, any matter that would be probative of the inadequacy of care, such as the qualifications and training of the facility staff, would be relevant to the claims.

In *Amente v. Newman*, 653 So. 2d 1030 (Fla. 1995), the defendant treated the plaintiff during her pregnancy and birth. The defendant doctor termed the plaintiff's pregnancy high-risk because she weighed over 300 pounds. The doctor opted to use a regular delivery bed rather than a drop-down bed when the plaintiff gave birth. The plaintiffs' child was injured during birth, which plaintiffs' assert was due to the decision to use a regular delivery bed. Plaintiffs sought discovery in a medical malpractice suit of the defendant doctor's medical record for all patients who were "obese patients who had given birth between" certain dates. The plaintiffs, however,

did provide that all patient identifying information could be redacted from the records prior to production. After discovery was ordered, the defendant doctor sought a writ of *certiorari* asserting the confidentiality of the patient-physician relationship.

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